Theoretical concepts and frameworks that relate to language and communication with fathers

Developed by Healthy Male and the Plus Paternal Network July 2022





Acknowledgements

Healthy Male, as a national organisation, acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of the many lands across Australia. We pay our respects to Elders past and present.

In respect to this paper, we would like to acknowledge and thank the following people for their contributions:

- Members of the Language Project Working Group involved in the development and/or review of the document: Alison Peipers, Dr Jacqui Macdonald, Amanda Curran, Dr Karen Wynter and Anita Thomas
- Additional reviewers Dr Jennifer St George, Rachael Dooley and Simon von Saldern
- Christine Leonards for the initial research and development of an early draft.

As a men's health organisation, Healthy Male's work, and the terminology we use, are often binary in nature. Whilst our remit is men's health, we respect people of all genders and support the work done by other organisations to assist gender diverse communities.

We use inclusive definitions. 'Men' includes all people who identify as men and 'women' includes all those who identify as women. Similarly, the terms 'father', 'mother' and 'parent' encompass all those who identify with them.

We are conscious that reproductive health issues around preconception, fertility and child birth are often related to a person's sex as assigned at birth, which may differ from their gender.

We appreciate that the challenges faced by many men throughout the perinatal period may be shared by more widely by non-birthing parents, regardless of their gender.

Table of Contents

Ackn	owledgements	1
Introduction		
Tuning in to fathers		5
Family diversity and gender-neutral language		
The theories and frameworks		9
1.	Family Systems Theory	9
2.	Attachment Theory	10
3.	Gendered stereotypes and norms	11
4.	Non-verbal communications theories	13
5.	Confirmation Bias	15
Conclusion		
References		

Introduction

The transition to parenthood is a challenging time for all parents. It is also a time when parents are potentially interacting with many health professionals across a range of reproductive and perinatal health services. These interactions, be they positive or negative, can be highly influential in helping shape a parents' knowledge, skills, attitudes and behaviours.

Australian families are increasingly diverse and may include one or more parents of various genders and/or sexual identities. Whilst acknowledging and respecting the diversity amongst Australian families, this paper is about how health professionals engage and support fathers. There are around five million fathers in Australia, two million of whom have a child under the age of 18.^{1, 2} Although fathers are our focus, the challenges they face during the transition to parenthood and throughout the perinatal period may well be shared by non-birthing parents, regardless of their gender.

Father-inclusive practice is an approach to service delivery that values and supports men in their role as fathers. It calls for services to actively encourage fathers' participation in programs and to *'ensure that they are appropriately and equally considered in all aspects of service delivery'*.³

Father-inclusive practice is becoming more common as health services seek to engage and involve fathers, or men-seeking-to-be fathers, to help them prepare for parenthood. However, the recruitment and retention of fathers in the health system from preconception to early fatherhood is inconsistent, and engagement remains low, compared to mothers.

The language[°] used by health professionals and health service leaders forms an important part of father-inclusive practice and influences the engagement of families in health care. The words and images used within health services, within policies and procedures, in consumer information and those chosen by health professionals, can work to include or exclude individuals. Language and communication messages can also reinforce traditional gendered stereotypes that may influence roles within families.

Although possibly unintentional, the language used in our health system often excludes fathers and non-birthing parents. Literature reviews and surveys show that many men do not feel meaningfully engaged by the health system when they are considering or having a child.⁴

To explore the influence of language and communication on fathers, the Plus Paternal Network^b scoped relevant theoretical frameworks. By examining a range of

[°] We have taken a broad definition of language and communication, incorporating words (written and spoken), messages, imagery and environments.

^b The Plus Paternal Network is a national network of organisations and individuals committed to progressing the seven goals of the <u>Plus Paternal Case for Change'</u>.

theories, we hoped to deepen our understanding of how language is used with, and received by fathers, and to extrapolate on how particular communication strategies could improve the engagement of fathers and their experiences of the health system. Our end game was to develop recommendations around language that could inform the development of resources and communications materials for health professionals hoping to better-engage with fathers.

Our key questions were:

- 1. What do the theories tell us about language and communication with fathers?
- 2. How should we apply this knowledge to improve the health system's engagement of men?

Within this paper we briefly describe the theories we saw as being particularly relevant to health professionals' communication with fathers, and then draw on those theories to make recommendations for promoting father-inclusive communication and challenging language that reinforces traditional gendered norms.

Tuning in to fathers

It is worth remembering that like all of us, fathers are products of their environments. Their knowledge, skills and attitudes will have been influenced by the worlds they live in - their own childhood experiences, their families and friends, their culture, their education, their socio-economic status, the media, our health system, and so on.^{5, 6, 7} All these factors work to develop a father's identity; how he perceives his role/s and his engagement with his child and family.

Although all men are different, there are some trends in their preferences for receiving information. Studies have shown that men trust information from both male and female health professionals, and will also seek information online, particularly if related to issues such as fertility.⁸ Men typically want to receive factual, statistical and/or practical information about pregnancy.^{9, 10, 11} Where appropriate, humour can be a useful tool in engaging men.^{11, 12} An Australian study showed that men value five key qualities when communicating with GPs: i) a *'frank approach'*; ii) competence; iii) the *'thoughtful use of humour'*; iv) empathy°, and; v) a fast resolution to their issues.¹³

Becoming a father is a significant life transition. When men become fathers, they suddenly belong to a different group, and to a new 'family'. In some, but not all fathers, the change in identity may be accompanied by a sense of belonging — the feeling that they fit in with other parents and other fathers, affecting their motivation and engagement as a parent.

Language is a critical tool for engaging fathers and promoting their sense of belonging. The words we choose and the messages we give can tell fathers that they belong, or that they don't. Importantly, belonginess can be signalled directly in words chosen but also by cues in the environment, such as posters in waiting rooms or images on websites.¹⁴

Tuning in to the language used by fathers is also important as their word choices may be a cue as to how they are feeling or coping with fatherhood. In a study of Australian men who had made a suicide attempt, the most frequently endorsed words or terms to describe their suicidal feelings were: *'useless'* or *'worthless'*, *'l've had enough', 'hopeless', 'pointless'* and *'over it'.*¹⁵ To describe feeling depressed, they nominated: *'stressed', 'tired', 'not going too well'* and *'down in the dumps'.*¹⁵ Such words should prompt deeper conversations to elicit the extent of a parent's feelings.

Health professionals are uniquely placed to identify fathers who may be struggling, and to inspire men to be engaged, confident, committed parents. By communicating intentionally and specifically with both parents, rather than unwittingly excluding the father and non-birthing parents, and by being attuned to their needs, health

[°] Empathy was defined as *'the ability to communicate easily, at the same level as the patient, and to listen and understand from the patient's perspective'.* ¹³

professionals can set the scene early for a positive parenting experience that will help families to thrive.

Positive impacts on fathers and families will be amplified if health services take a whole-of-service approach to father-inclusive practice, and use language across all communications formats that reflects fathers and non-birthing parents as valuable, competent, equal parents.

Family diversity and gender-neutral language

Rainbow families are same-sex or LGBTQ+ parented families. They include parents who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender or queer who have a child/children, or are planning to have a child/children. According to the 2016 Census, the number of same-sex couples has risen by 39% since 2011 and 83% since 2006.¹⁶ Around 15% of same-sex couples had children, including adult children, living with them.¹⁶

Everyone should have access to the language that makes them feel comfortable and included. Gender-neutral communication is fast becoming a part of our mainstream vernacular and can be a requirement for Government agencies. Using non-binary terms in relation to families and parenting acknowledges the diversity of families and helps create inclusive environments that acknowledge trans, genderdiverse and non-binary family members.

However, there are some risks in taking a blanket approach to gender-neutral communications. Most parents identify as either 'mothers' or 'fathers' and are motivated by these terms and their associated roles. They may not connect with gender-neutral terms such as 'gestational parent' and 'non-birthing parent'.¹⁷

Gender neutral marketing may not be effective in engaging fathers. Simply advertising programs for 'parents' has not brought fathers to services, perhaps because the term 'parent' still tends to imply 'mother' if gender biases are observed. Including the words *'men', 'dads', 'uncles', 'pops' or 'fathers'* in fliers has been shown to significantly increase men's engagement in programs.¹⁸

To reduce these risks and emphasise the inclusion of all parents, it is important not to take an 'all or nothing' approach. To be truly inclusive and engage all parents, it is important to use both gender-neutral and gender-based language. In the same way that it has become common practice to enquire about preferred pronouns, enquiring about parental identity demonstrates respect and inclusion of all individuals.

Recommendations

- Use both gender-neutral and gender-specific language where appropriate.
- Be mindful not to make assumptions. You may be working with single parents, separated parents, rainbow parents, those who are co-parenting and those who are not.
- Where appropriate, check in with your clients on their preferred terminology e.g. How would you like me to refer to you each as parents mum, dad, or perhaps another term?
- Be conscious that the word 'parent' may not gain men's attention.
- Be mindful of gender fluidity and changes in preferred names, pronouns and identities. A trans man, for instance, may have given birth but may not identify as a mother.
- When engaging with fathers, use the terms 'father' or 'dad', along with gender-neutral terms where appropriate. For example *Blackwood Health*

Service invites all parents; mums, dads and partners, to attend its information session.

The theories and frameworks

Within this section we describe five theories and/or frameworks relevant to health professionals' communication with fathers. Each theory informs practical recommendations for messages and word choices.

- 1. Family Systems Theory
- 2. Attachment Theory
- 3. Gendered stereotypes and norms
- 4. Non-verbal communications theories
- 5. Confirmation Bias

1. Family Systems Theory

Description

Family Systems Theory¹⁹ defines the family unit as *'a complex social system in which members interact to influence each other's behaviour*.²⁰ A change in one family member is likely to influence the entire family system and may affect other members.²⁰ Like within any system or 'machine', it is the interconnection that makes a family work. Ignoring one part of the family system can have implications for individuals and the family as a whole.

In a new family's 'system', identities, roles, relationships and emotional wellbeing will be influenced by individuals' beliefs and expectations, and by the 'pushes and pulls' of the family system. Contributing factors include: competing emotional demands; hierarchy issues; conflicts; family and institutional culture, and; beliefs about the 'work of parenting' such as childcare, household tasks or provisioning.²¹ The feedback loops from the system can either help or hinder a member's emotional wellbeing or resilience.¹⁹

The parenting system is also shaped by input from the social environment, including health services. If health professionals can encourage parents to be flexible and open, and not constrained by their family system, they will be better-able to assist those who need advice or support. Because patterns of interaction stabilise quickly ('seeking equilibrium in the system'), language, messaging and information needs to be targeted and timely.

Recommendations for language and communication with men/fathers

- Choose words and messages that focus on building a strong, interdependent family unit.
- Engage and communicate with all parents as a matter of common practice, normalising this as a specific goal of the organisation. Reinforce this regularly with all parents so that it becomes the norm for them also.
- Communicate that fathers and non-birthing parents perform more than just a support role to the mother or birthing parent they are important to the development of their child and know important information about the child.

• Acknowledge that each person within a family system can feel vulnerable and that the whole family can benefit from support during a period of change.

Non-birthing parents, most commonly fathers, 'are often treated as secondary to fertility, birthing and parenting processes — welcome but not active-partners'.⁴ Side-lining fathers, whether deliberately or not, detracts from efforts to build a strong family unit.

Encourage parents to work together as a team, to plan how they will parent and to trouble-shoot together. Choose words like '**teamwork'** rather than 'support' or 'help'. Encourage fathers to play an active role as couples prepare for parenting, and when the baby arrives.

Remember that change is occurring for all parents. Encourage parents to talk about 'who will do what' with regard to caring for baby/babies and household chores following the baby's arrival.

Share information relating to fertility, conception, pregnancy, birth, breastfeeding and parenting with both parents to help them to build a deeper, shared understanding of this important life transition.

Acknowledge that a father's health and wellbeing needs are important to the family as a whole. Encourage them to engage with support services if they are struggling.

2. Attachment Theory

Description

Attachment Theory is about connections. It examines the relationships and emotional ties that form between people, particularly over the long-term, such as the bond between a parent and child. Bowlby described attachment as a 'lasting psychological connectedness between human beings'.²²

The primary proposition of Attachment Theory is that when caregivers are **available** and **responsive** to a child's needs, the child develops a sense of security.²³ The child knows that the caregiver is **dependable**, which creates a secure base for them to then explore the world.

Children who are securely attached as infants tend to be more 'socially engaged' as they grow older, more accepted by their peers and less likely to develop anxiety disorders.^{24, 25}

Attachment Theory has evolved over time. Traditionally, Attachment Theorists focused almost exclusively on the mother-infant relationship as the mother was seen as the primary caregiver, with the father or non-birthing parent becoming the secondary attachment figure.

The focus has since shifted to acknowledge dual attachment^d and the various attachments formed within family systems (see Family Systems Theory above). Recent studies have shown that fathers and mothers are equally able to form emotionally rich relationships with their children and promote subsequent secure attachment in children.^{26, 27, 28} An emotionally secure father-child-relationship appears to assist children to create better relationships with their peers.²⁹

The benefits of fathers bonding with their children, both for the father and the child, have not been well communicated to fathers.

Recommendations for language and communication with men/fathers

• Use language that normalises fathers as nurturing, caring, responsive, emotionally available parents.

Direct messages about parenting and the importance of attachment equally to both parents. Build parents' understanding of the health and developmental benefits for their children of spending time together.

Using words like '**comfort'** and '**nurture'** in the context of fathers providing care for infants can help to normalize these functions as part of their role.

Build fathers' confidence that they will be able to build strong bonds with their children and let them know that this bond often develops through father-child play.³⁰

Reinforce that both parents can, and should, support their children's **emotional security**. Children soon learn that they can turn to either parent when they experience emotional pain or fear.

Avoid any reference to mothers' providing better or more instinctive care. Birth and breastfeeding aside, both parents are equally capable of providing the **care**, **comfort** and **support** of exploration that children need.

3. Gendered stereotypes and norms

Description

Gender theories and concepts around masculinity and femininity have been evolving since the 1970s. Thinking has moved from the belief that men and women operate according to fixed biological determinants, to seeing masculinity and femininity as separate, but overlapping 'sets of mutually **created characteristics** shaping the lives of men and women'.³¹

Masculinities refer to 'practices, attitudes and behaviours that are associated with men and boys and how they should act'.³¹ These include social norms; the unwritten rules about how to behave in society. Depending on age, culture and social groups,

^d A child's ability to form primary connections for security/comfort with both parents.

masculine values can take on many forms and be expressed and experienced in many different ways.³¹ This is also true of femininity - the attributes, behaviours, and roles generally associated with women and girls, which may, or may not, resonate with individuals. While not all men conform to traditional or restrictive masculine expectations, it is common to feel pressure, either consciously or subconsciously, to do so.³² This pressure may influence men's decisions and their wellbeing.

Australians' attitudes about parenting are changing. However, many people still operate in traditional, unequal parenting roles which are pre-determined by their gender and reinforced by social norms, with gender also related to factors such as differences in income levels and access to parental leave. Stereotypes and normative views around parenting, masculinity and femininity can reinforce particular roles within families and exclude people from pursuing other roles. For instance, the hardworking, absent, male breadwinner stereotype can pigeonhole men into external work and subsequent absence from the parenting and caregiver space.¹⁴ Similarly, the caring, dedicated mother stereotype may be a barrier to women fully pursuing employment aspirations.

Some of the most significant barriers in engaging fathers in health and parenting services are gender-stereotyped attitudes and biases. **Entrenched** beliefs around gender roles can be held by either, or both parents, or by health practitioners. They can also be noted at the institutional- or **systemic-level**.³³ When there is a view that the mother is the primary, most competent parent – whether this is held by the mother, father or health practitioner – fathers can be treated as an afterthought or, at worst, stigmatised, excluded or alienated. Importantly, biases on the part of the health care provider, such as a belief that mothers are intuitively better at caring for a sick child, may be reflected subtly through communication with fathers.³⁴ Such attitudes can discourage fathers from fully engaging in the parenting role even if they had hoped to do so.

Adherence to gendered roles can also affect fathers' **help seeking**. For example, conformity to traditional masculine norms such as the idea that men should be strong, can lead to men bottling up negative emotions and ignoring signs of depression or anxiety. Among men, and young men, in particular, adherence to traditional masculine norms and beliefs is a barrier to receiving less healthcare and particularly mental health services.^{35,36}

Recommendations for language and communication with men/fathers

- Reframe language to avoid reinforcing gender stereotypes in parenting.
- Direct information to both parents and acknowledge that they are equallyimportant.

Choose words that free parents of gendered stereotypes – avoid language that perpetuates the notion of 'mother' as 'primary and most significant caregiver' and 'father' as the 'helper'.

Encourage parents to discuss and negotiate their roles and responsibilities, rather than follow stereotypes without consideration of alternative options.

When talking to fathers, avoid words like 'help' or 'support'. Instead talk about '**teamwork'** and '**shared-parenting'**.

Rather than suggesting that fathers should 'be strong' for their partners – talk about creating a '**strong team'** and acknowledge that it is common for strong people to feel uncertain or vulnerable and to seek support.

Avoid words with masculine connotations, like 'leader', 'breadwinner' or 'provider'. When talking to fathers, use words such as '**nurturer**', '**kindness'** and '**comfort'**.

Don't assume what roles and responsibilities each parent will take on following the arrival of a baby/babies. For example: that the mother parent will stay home and be the primary carer and that the father will go back to paid work, or that the mother will be the one to attend appointments.

To avoid reinforcing gendered stereotypes, also think about the messages given to mothers. For example, don't recommend that fathers take on the discipline role, or suggest, even with humour, that 'men are hopeless at X or Y' or that they 'babysit'. Avoid suggesting that the mother is the expert and that she knows best about baby's needs.

Think about the use of gendered language across the health system and within your health service. Mother-focussed terminology can give the impression that fathers do not belong in the space primarily reserved for women. Review how the words and messages your health service uses are perceived by fathers and non-birthing parents, ideally by asking them.

Consider whether your physical environment, publications or marketing materials may be reinforcing gender stereotypes about parenting roles. Ensure posters and pictures represent all parents and diverse families.

By avoiding language that supports gendered parenting stereotypes, you will give space for families to decide together how they will share their roles, and for fathers to make more equal contributions to parenting.

4. Non-verbal communications theories

Description

This group of theories includes Body Language, Gesture Theory, Active Listening as well as Communication Theories. These theories remind us that communication is about much more than just words. Non-verbal communication helps to 'build relationships, provides cues to underlying unspoken concerns and/or emotions, and helps to reinforce or contradict our verbal comments'.³⁷

Body language has many elements, including a person's posture, their head and hand movements, facial expressions and eye contact. This form of communication helps to establish the relationship between two or more people and regulates their interaction, yet it can be ambiguous, and most of it happens without conscious awareness. Other non-verbal communication cues include the tone, volume, pitch and speed of speech, which consciously, or unconsciously, add additional meaning to words. The environment also sends a message and may be conceived as welcoming or not.

Face-to-face communication involves a complex interaction between spoken words and non-verbal communication.³⁸ The listener 'decodes' all cues, drawing on societal associations (which may vary across cultures). As a result, the listener receives both intended and unintended messages.

Communication research contends that verbal and non-verbal communication often have to be considered together for someone to understand conveyed meaning.³⁷ When the two messages do not match, non-verbal messages tend to 'override verbal messages'.³⁷

People are impacted not only by what health care providers say, but how they present information and what they do while giving this information.³⁹ Research has shown that a health care provider's non-verbal behaviour, such as their eye contact or a handshake, can boost patients' perceptions of their empathy.⁴⁰ Studies have also found that appropriate eye contact boosts people's perceptions of rapport.⁴¹

Gender biases may also be apparent through non-verbal cues and can create challenges to effective communication between health care providers and their clients.³⁴ Fathers and non-birthing parents often report feeling excluded during consultations about fertility, pregnancy and parenting.⁴

Recommendations for language and communication with men/fathers

- Reflect on your non-verbal communication and the cues you may be giving.
- Ensure you create an inclusive environment and build rapport with both parents.

Being conscious that improving your body language can help improve engagement with fathers, will help make you a better all-round communicator.

Take a minute to **reflect** on your body language and how it may be helping or hindering your engagement with others. Ask a colleague to comment.

If meeting with two people in a healthcare setting, do you regularly make eye contact with them both (unless there are cultural issues that preclude this)? Whom do you look at most frequently? Are the chairs positioned to maximise everyone's engagement? Do you display active listening skills, such as head nodding? Are your facial expressions appropriate? Do you use gestures that promote engagement (e.g. welcoming hand motions) or detract from it (e.g. fidgeting)?

Do you actively include fathers and non-birthing parents throughout each visit? How is your body positioned in relation to each parent? If fathers visit or bring their children to an appointment without the mother do you ask, 'Where's your partner today?' Do you routinely include fathers in discussions or questions about child care? Use non-verbal cues to show that you believe the father is a capable and equal parent, such as handing the baby to them to hold during an examination.

Do the images presented in your service, on your website and in written materials portray diverse parents? Are there pictures of fathers, same-sex couples, singleparents etc? Are the colours in your waiting room and on written materials appropriate to engage everyone i.e., not all pink?

5. Confirmation Bias

Description

Confirmation Bias is the idea that we see what we want to see. People tend to prefer information that confirms what they already believe — whether or not the information is true.

Confirmation Bias occurs when a person interprets or approaches a situation according to their own pre-existing beliefs and ignores information to the contrary. It explains the tendency for people to seek or recall information in a way that confirms or supports their prior beliefs or values.⁴²

Working with parents can unearth many confirmation biases, including a belief that they need to play a certain role, or behave in a certain way, thoughts on the roles of mothers or fathers, confidence in skills or abilities etc. An example might be a health professional who believes mothers are naturally better at consoling babies. This bias may be reinforced when they witness a father struggling to calm their child, even if the mother struggles too. This bias is known as belief perseverance — when beliefs persist after the evidence for them is shown to be false.⁴³

Biases may be reinforced at a system or society level and may be difficult to break down. Although confirmation bias cannot be eliminated entirely, it can be brought to people's attention and managed through awareness raising, education and training.

Recommendations for language and communication with men/fathers

- Be conscious of your own biases and how they may be reinforced through the messages you give to parents.
- Challenge parents' pre-existing beliefs encourage them to keep an open mind about how they will share the different components of the parenting role.

Viewing fathers and non-birthing parents as important and communicating this verbally and non-verbally across families' engagement with services will increase their positive perception of their own value and engagement in parenting, and potentially increase their involvement.

It may be useful to reflect on your own potential biases and to ask others if they notice you displaying any biases. What do you think about fathers' abilities to care for newborns or infants?

To help parents' avoid confirmation bias, provide information from a range of sources and present differing views. Gently challenge traditional / stereotyped thinking by presenting alternative ideas and examples. Help them find the 'grey' if they appear very 'black or white'. Be cautious of making definitive statements like 'always' and 'never'. Instead, use terms such as 'sometimes', or 'some parents', and provide examples of contradictory scenarios e.g. "Some parents find that the father is actually better at getting their bub to sleep."

Conclusion

By considering theoretical concepts and frameworks that lay behind the way we communicate with parents, we are reminded of the power of language and communication in engaging, educating and providing support. As the reproductive health sector has traditionally centred on communication with mothers, working with fathers requires a shift in thinking from a mother-focused model to a family centred one that is father-inclusive.

In isolation, the theories provide insights on how to make this shift, but in combination, they tell a more powerful story. Similarities in the theories reinforce the need to take steps, through language and other strategies, to attune to the needs of fathers and men seeking to become fathers, and to provide an inclusive experience for them. The theories also support communicating with mothers about their relationships planning for a shared-parenting journey.

Language and communication are important components of wider 'father-inclusive practice'. The suggestions for communicating with fathers across the perinatal period may appear obvious or only subtly different to how you would communicate with mothers. However, small changes can make a significant difference to the way each parent engages, learns and views themselves and in how they make informed choices about parenting or help-seeking.

References

¹ ABS (2016) Gender Indicators, Australia, 2016

² McCrindle, From House-Hubbies to On-Duty Dads, Australian Fathers are Actively Parenting. Viewed 26 July 2022, Available from:

https://mccrindle.com.au/insights/blogarchive/from-househubbies-to-onduty-dads-australianfathers-are-actively-parenting/

³ Commonwealth of Australia (2009) Father-inclusive Practice Guide: A tool to support the inclusion of fathers in holistic service delivery, Canberra, ACT

⁴ Healthy Male (2020) Plus Paternal Case for Change, Melbourne, Victoria

⁵ Roberts, D. Coakley, T, Washington, Kelley, A. Fathers' Perspectives on Supports and Barriers That Affect Their Fatherhood Role. SAGE Open, 2014: 4 (1). <u>doi:10.1177/2158244014521818</u>

⁶ de Montigny, F., & Lacharite ´, C. (2005). Perceived parental efficacy: Concept analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 49(4), 387Y396. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03302.x

⁷ Sevigny, P. R., & Loutzenhiser, L. (2010). Predictors of parenting self-efficacy in mothers and fathers of toddlers. Child: Care, Health &Development, 36(2), 179Y189. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.00980.x

⁸ Prior E, Lew R, Hammarberg K, et al. Fertility facts, figures and future plans: an online survey of university students. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* 2019;22(4):283-90. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2018.1482569 [published Online First: 2018/07/31]

^o Nash M. "It's just good to get a bit of man-talk out in the open": Men's experiences of father-only antenatal preparation classes in Tasmania, Australia. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity* 2018;19(2):298-307. doi: 10.1037/men0000102

¹⁰ Dheensa S, Metcalfe A, Williams RA. Men's experiences of antenatal screening: a metasynthesis of the qualitative research. *Int J Nurs Stud* 2013;50(1):121-33. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.05.004 [published Online First: 2012/06/12]

¹¹ Baldwin S, Malone M, Sandall J, et al. Mental health and wellbeing during the transition to fatherhood: a systematic review of first time fathers' experiences. *JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep* 2018;16(11):2118-91. doi: 10.11124/JBISRIR-2017-003773 [published Online First: 2018/10/06]

¹² Fletcher R, StGeorge J. Heading into fatherhood--nervously: support for fathering from online dads. *Qual Health Res* 2011;21(8):1101-14. doi:
10.1177/1049732311404903 [published Online First: 2011/04/06]

¹³ Smith, J, Braunack-Mayer, A, Wittert, G, Warin, M. Qualities men value when communicating with general

practitioners: implications for primary care settings. *MJA* 2008; 189: 618–621

¹⁴ Gaucher, Danielle & Friesen, Justin & Kay, Aaron. (2011). Evidence That Gendered Wording in Job Advertisements Exists and Sustains Gender Inequality. Journal of personality and social psychology. 101. 109-28. 10.1037/a0022530.

¹⁵ Shand FL, Proudfoot J, Player MJ, et al. What might interrupt men's suicide? Results from an online survey of men. BMJ Open 2015;5:e008172. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008172

¹⁶ Qu, L 2022, Families Then and Now: Couple relationships. Australian Institute of Family Studies. Viewed 13 July 2022, Available from: <u>https://aifs.gov.au/publications/couple-relationships</u>

¹⁷ Gribble KD, Bewley S, Bartick MC, Mathisen R, Walker S, Gamble J, Bergman NJ, Gupta A, Hocking JJ, Dahlen HG. Effective Communication About Pregnancy, Birth, Lactation, Breastfeeding and Newborn Care: The Importance of Sexed Language. Front Glob Womens Health. 2022 Feb 7;3:818856. doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2022.818856. PMID: 35224545; PMCID: PMC8864964.

¹⁸ Fletcher, R, Hahn, L & Gifford, M 2002, The 'inviting the dads in' workshops. University of Newcastle, Newcastle.

¹⁹ Kerr M.E. and Bowen, M. (1988) *Family Evaluation.* New York, NY: W.W. Norton.

²⁰ Pfeiffer S, In-Albon T, (2022) Comprehensive Clinical Psychology (Second Edition),
1.10 - Family Systems, Elsevier,pp 185-201, ISBN 9780128222324,
<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818697-8.00080-7</u>.

²¹ Watson W. Family Systems. Encyclopedia of Human Behaviour (2nd Edition). 2012: 184-193.

²² Bowlby J. Maternal care and mental health. Bull World Health Organ. 1951;3(3):355-533

²³ Cassidy J, Ehrlich KB, Sherman LJ. Child-parent attachment and response to threat: A move from the level of representation. In: Mikulincer M, Shaver PR, editors. *Nature and development of social connections: From brain to group*.Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 2013

²⁴ Warren SL, Huston L, Egeland B, Sroufe LA. Child and adolescent anxiety disorders and early attachment. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 1997;36:637–644

²⁵ Veríssimo M, Santos AJ, Fernandes C, Shin N, & Vaughn BE. (2014). Associations Between Attachment Security and Social Competence in Preschool Children. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly, 60(1), 80–99.*

https://doi.org/10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.60.1.0080

²⁶ Pruett, K. (1987). *The Nurturing Father*, New York: Warner Books.

²⁷ Lamb, M. E. (1977). Father-infant and mother-infant interaction in the first year of life. Child Development, 48, 167–181.

²⁸ Paquette, D. (2004). Theorizing the father-child relationship: Mechanisms and developmental outcomes. Human Development, 47, 193–219.

²⁹ Ulrike Lux & Sabine Walper (2019): A systemic perspective on children's emotional insecurity in relation to father: links to parenting, interparental conflict and children's social well-being, Attachment & Human Development, DOI: 10.1080/14616734.2019.1582597

³⁰ Natasha J. Cabrera (2020) Father involvement, father-child relationship, and attachment in the early years, Attachment & Human Development, 22:1, 134-138, DOI: <u>10.1080/14616734.2019.1589070</u>

³¹ "<u>Gender Theory.</u>" <u>Encyclopedia of European Social History</u>. . *Encyclopedia.com*.28 Mar. 2022 <<u>https://www.encyclopedia.com</u>>.

³² VicHealth, Masculinities in Health: A Framework for challenging masculine gender stereotypes in health promotion, Accessed 4 May 2022, Available at: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/-/media/ResourceCentre/PublicationsandResources/Health-Inequalities/VicHealth-Masculinities-and-health-framework-JUNE-2020.pdf?la=en&hash=3159E5BCCB29C72398B0EF6E592AD94881BE2277</u>

³³ Maxwell, N., Scourfield, J., Featherstone, B., Holland, S., & Tolman, R. M. (2012). Engaging fathers in child welfare services: A narrative review of recent research evidence. Child & Family Social Work, 17, 160-169. doi:10.1111/j.1365-

2206.2012.00827.x

³⁴ Daundasekara S, Arlinghaus K, Johnstone c, (2019) The Importance of Language in Behaviour Change, American *Journal of Lifestyle Medicine,* Vol 13, no 3

³⁵ Marcell AV, Ford CA, Pleck JH, Sonenstein FL. Masculine beliefs, parental communication, and male adolescents' health care use. *Pediatrics*(2007) 119:e966–75.10.1542/peds.2006-1683

³⁶ Rice SM, Purcell R, McGorry PD. Adolescent and Young Adult Male Mental Health: Transforming System Failures Into Proactive Models of Engagement. *J.Adolesc. Health.* 2018;62 (3) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.024

³⁷ Hall JA, Harrigan JA, Rosenthal R. Nonverbal behavior in clinician-patient interaction. *Appl Prev Psychol.* 1995;**4**(1):21–35

³⁸ Hall JA, Horgan TG, Murphy NA. Nonverbal Communication. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2019. 70:271–94

³⁹ Ruben, M. A., Blanch-Hartigan, D., & Hall, J. A. (2020). Communication Skills to Engage Patients in Treatment. *The Wiley Handbook of Healthcare Treatment Engagement*, 274–296. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119129530.ch15

⁴⁰ Montague E et al (2013) Nonverbal interpersonal interactions in clinical encounters and patient perceptions of empathy. *Journal of Participatory Medicine*; 14: 5, e33.

⁴¹Harrigan JA et al (1985) Rapport expressed through nonverbal behaviour. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 9: 2, 95-110.

⁴² Nickerson, Raymond S. (1998), "Confirmation bias: A ubiquitous phenomenon in many guises", *Review of General Psychology*, **2** (2): 175–220

⁴³ Baumeister, R. F.; et al., eds. (2007). *Encyclopedia of Social Psychology*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. pp. 109–110.